



COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY

JOURNAL



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

Mini review

Navigating the cellular landscape in tissue: Recent advances in defining the pathogenesis of human disease



Helen Y. Chen^{a,b,c}, Umaimainthan Palendira^{a,b,c}, Carl G. Feng^{a,b,c,*}

^a Immunology and Host Defence Group, School of Medical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, NSW, Australia ^b Charles Perkins Centre, The University of Sydney, NSW, Australia

^c Centenary Institute, The University of Sydney, NSW, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 June 2022 Received in revised form 4 September 2022 Accepted 4 September 2022 Available online 15 September 2022

Keywords: Multiplex tissue imaging Spatial biology Pathogenesis Spatial proteomics Biomarker discovery

ABSTRACT

Over the past decade, our understanding of human diseases has rapidly grown from the rise of single-cell spatial biology. While conventional tissue imaging has focused on visualizing morphological features, the development of multiplex tissue imaging from fluorescence-based methods to DNA- and mass cytometry-based methods has allowed visualization of over 60 markers on a single tissue section. The advancement of spatial biology with a single-cell resolution has enabled the visualization of cell-cell interactions and the tissue microenvironment, a crucial part to understanding the mechanisms underlying pathogenesis. Alongside the development of extensive marker panels which can distinguish distinct cell phenotypes, multiplex tissue imaging has facilitated the analysis of high dimensional data to identify novel biomarkers and therapeutic targets, while considering the spatial context of the cellular environment. This mini-review provides an overview of the recent advancements in multiplex imaging technologies and examines how these methods have been used in exploring pathogenesis and biomarker discovery in cancer, autoimmune and infectious diseases.

© 2022 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction		
2.	Tissue imaging technologies		
	2.1.	Sequential multiplex immunofluorescence	. 5257
	2.2.	DNA barcoding	. 5257
		2.2.1. Co-detection by indexing (CODEX)	5257
		2.2.2. GeoMx Digital Spatial Profiler	5259
	2.3.	Mass cytometry imaging technologies	. 5259
3.	Application of tissue imaging in human disease		
	3.1.	Cancer	. 5259
	3.2.	Autoimmune diseases	. 5260
		3.2.1. Type 1 Diabetes	5260
		3.2.2. Multiple Sclerosis	5260
	3.3.	Infectious diseases	. 5261

Abbreviations: FFPE, Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded; IHC, Immunohistochemistry; TSA, Tyramide signal amplification; HRP, Horseradish peroxidase; CODEX, Codetection by indexing; DSP, Digital Spatial Profiler; FF, Fresh-frozen; ROI, Regions of interest; MCI, Mass Cytometry Imaging; IMC, Imaging Mass Cytometry; MIBI, Multiplexed Ion Beam Imaging; TOF, Time-of-flight; TME, Tumor microenvironments; HER2, Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; PD-L1, Programmed death-ligand 1; IDO, Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase; PD1, Programmed cell death protein 1; CTLA-4, Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4; FOXP3, Forkhead box P3; T1DM, Type 1 diabetes mellitus; MS, Multiple sclerosis; CNS, Central nervous system; SARS-CoV-2, Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; IL-10, Interleukin-10; TNF-α, Tumor necrosis factor alpha.

* Corresponding author at: Level 5 (East) The Charles Perkins Centre (D17), The University of Sydney, NSW, 2006, Australia. *E-mail address:* carl.feng@sydney.edu.au (C.G. Feng).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2022.09.005

2001-0370/© 2022 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

	3.3.1.	Tuberculosis	5261
	3.3.2.	COVID-19	5261
4.	Summary & or	ıtlook	5261
	Declaration of	Competing Interest	5261
	Acknowledge	nents	5261
	References		5262

1. Introduction

Visualizing human tissue has become increasingly important in furthering our understanding of cellular mechanisms, pathogenesis, and treatment efficacy. In-depth analysis of the tissue landscape at a single-cell level is crucial in defining the pathogenesis of many diseases, where complex local cellular environments determine either the success or failure of the host response. Single-cell transcriptomics, using cell suspensions from dissociated tissue, has enabled the characterization of cellular processes and previously unidentified populations in both physiological and diseased states [1,2]. While able to capture the cell-cell variation present in tissue, single-cell transcriptomics is unable to provide the spatial context of cells [3,4]. Consequently, the scope of these studies may be limited as the native cellular environment of biological systems is not considered, omitting the functional roles from the spatial organization of tissue [5,6]. Recent advances in multiplex tissue imaging have tried to preserve the spatial context of tissues while retaining the depth of single-cell analysis, enabling the investigation of both cell-cell interactions and the spatial distribution of the cells in human tissues and organs [7,8]. However, as most clinical and archival samples are preserved as formalinfixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue, this has limited the imaging technologies available that can overcome the inherent autofluorescence and damage to cell and tissue quality observed in FFPE tissue [9-11].

This mini-review will highlight how the development of major proteomic-based tissue imaging technologies over the past decade, ranging from multiplex immunofluorescence and mass cytometry to DNA barcoding methods, has deepened our understanding of human diseases.

2. Tissue imaging technologies

2.1. Sequential multiplex immunofluorescence

Multiplex immunofluorescence overcomes the limitations commonly associated with conventional immunohistochemistry (IHC), including the low label capacity and high inter-observer variability, by allowing simultaneous detection of multiple markers on a single tissue section and post-imaging digital analysis [12,13]. While several methods are available in multiplex immunofluorescence, multiplexing often presents challenges through the degradation of tissue architecture and epitopes after iterative stain cycles [14,15]. Tyramide signal amplification (TSA) is the core of many multiplex immunofluorescence technologies. As shown in Fig. 1, TSA methods consist of serial staining cycles where horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated to secondary antibodies enzymatically catalyzes tyramide reactions, binding tyrosine-conjugated fluorophores near protein antigens of interest [8,15–18]. The subsequent covalent tyramide-tyrosine bond formed helps preserve fluorescent signals accumulating on the tissue while other noncovalently bound antibody pairs are removed by heat [15,16,19]. This allows the detection of markers with low expression and the use of primary antibodies from the same species, while still maintaining a high signal-to-noise ratio [16,17,19–21]. TSA is also more photostable compared to conventional immunofluorescence, which enables the long-term storage and re-imaging of the slides after the initial staining [22].

The most notable TSA method is the Opal Multiplex IHC assay (Akoya Biosciences), which can identify up to eight markers using FFPE tissue [15]. The Opal assay utilizes TSA-conjugated fluorophores which are covalently bound to tissue, and iterative rounds of antibody staining and stripping by heat-induced epitope retrieval, commonly performed in the microwave [21,23]. After the optimization of an Opal assay using single-colored controls and a spectral library, the resulting assay has the advantages of increased sensitivity, specificity, and compatibility with most fluorescent microscopes in research laboratories [16].

While the large-scale quantitative analysis and manual laborintensive protocols are limiting in TSA-based technologies, the development of autostainers and automated protocols has allowed for consistent imaging of multiple whole tissue samples with quick turnover times [20]. However, these advancements in protocol automation do not address all the limitations. Tissue degradation from repeated heat-induced epitope retrievals required in TSAbased protocols and prolonged tissue exposure to chemicals required for multiplexing are particularly problematic when staining delicate samples or tissues with low cell density [8,14]. Furthermore, TSA does not recognize the intensity of antibody expression and is prone to false-positive staining from tyramide overreaction [12]. Fluorescence imaging is also limited by tissue autofluorescence and difficulties in assessing and recognizing tissue architecture, as opposed to imaging of conventionally stained tissue [21]. Ultimately, spectral overlap remains a barrier to marker capacity for panels from fluorescence-based multiplex imaging technologies.

2.2. DNA barcoding

To overcome the practical and spectral limitations of sequential immunofluorescence imaging, DNA-barcoded imaging probes have been developed. DNA barcoding utilizes antibodies conjugated with orthogonal DNA oligonucleotides (Fig. 1), which are detected by probes of complimentary single-stranded DNA often conjugated to a fluorescent dye [24]. Here we will focus on co-detection by indexing (CODEX), and nanoString Digital Spatial Profiler (DSP), two examples of DNA barcoding methods.

2.2.1. Co-detection by indexing (CODEX)

This technology incorporates DNA-conjugated antibodies with dye-labeled nucleotides for multiplex imaging [25]. In the first iteration of CODEX, cells are first stained with all tagged antibodies, where markers are iteratively revealed and imaged when exposed to a nucleotide mix, allowing the final multiplexed image to be reconstructed [25]. Notably, the recent commercialization of CODEX into the PhenoCycler by Akoya Biosciences has led to advancements in their workflow, which includes an automated microfluidic system for a single staining procedure capable of staining FFPE, fresh-frozen (FF) tissue, and single cells [26]. This advancement allows the quantification of up to 60 markers and streamlines the staining protocol in a single platform. The latest



Fig. 1. Workflow for multiplex imaging technologies. Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue samples first undergo a round of antigen retrieval to prepare the tissue for staining. In sequential multiplex immunofluorescence, each marker is stained separately, where the fluorescent signal is amplified from the horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-tyramide reaction (left). DNA barcoding instead consists of a single staining step with antibodies conjugated to oligonucleotides. These oligonucleotides are detected, imaged, and then quantified to create the final multiplexed image (middle). Mass cytometry imaging also utilizes a single staining step with metal-conjugated antibodies. These metal isotopes (M) are ionized and detected by mass spectrometry, where the signal detected can be used to reconstruct the image (right). After staining, the images acquired from all imaging technologies follow a similar analytics pipeline including cell segmentation and phenotyping to further data analysis and visualization.

system, PhenoCycler-Fusion, has an integrated imaging platform for faster single-cell and tissue analysis, while increasing sample capacity [27]. This system is also compatible with RNAscope [28] to enable RNA detection alongside protein markers. CODEX is advantageous due to its ease of use while minimizing spectral overlap and batch effects from the single antibody staining step [29]. The commercialized version of CODEX is compatible with many existing inverted fluorescent microscopes and does

not cause significant damage to the tissue sample. While CODEX panels have been validated for up to 56 antibody markers in lymphoma and colorectal cancer samples [30,31], over 100-plex panels have been developed for use with the PhenoCycler-Fusion system, enabling the spatial characterization of clinical samples with a single-cell resolution. CODEX has the capacity to increase the number of markers in antibody panels, only limited by the development of new, unique oligonucleotide sequences and long imaging acquisition times [26]. While CODEX overcomes many technological barriers in multiplex tissue imaging, the cost of CODEX-specific reagents is one of the primary limiting factors. Many of the antibodies validated and compatible with CODEX are more expensive than antibodies available for staining in FF tissue [26]. As CODEX increases the capacity for more markers in antibody panels, minimizing the speed of each imaging cycle to visualize the entire barcoded tissue remains an issue to be addressed [25].

2.2.2. GeoMx Digital Spatial Profiler

GeoMx Digital Spatial Profiler (DSP), a commercial system developed by nanoString, is an alternative method that allows the visualization of both mRNA and protein using oligonucleotide probes conjugated to either antibodies or RNA probes with a photocleavable UV linker [32,33]. The DSP platform also integrates fluorescent staining to identify morphological features and help select regions of interest (ROI). After the oligonucleotide incubation, the slides are scanned into the automated DSP system to select for ROI, where for each region the oligonucleotides are photoreleased and collected into a microtiter plate for quantification [32,33]. ROI selection and shape can be customized by the user with the DSP platform capable of imaging regions at sizes of 5 μ m by 5 μ m to 660 μ m by 785 μ m [34]. Currently, DSP has been validated for use with up to 44 proteins and 96 genes in lymphoid, colorectal tumor, and inflammatory bowel disease tissue and is compatible with both FFPE and FF tissue [33,34].

One of the primary advantages of DSP is the capability to profile both RNA and protein using targeted panels in the same tissue section multiple times for in-depth sequencing of only targets of interest with minimal damage to the tissue section [33,35]. Currently, over 300 antibodies have been validated for use with the DSP platform in addition to pre-designed reagent panels and custom-designed antibody or RNA probes [34]. Finally, the DSP platform is simple to use, automated, and does not require additional instrumentation to image, quantify and undertake spatial profiling [33,36]. However, DSP is restricted to analyzing information within each region of interest and cannot profile the complete slide, unlike CODEX and sequential immunofluorescence imaging [33]. While DSP can achieve a near single-cell resolution for some proteins, this cannot be achieved for all markers and relies on the sensitivity of each antibody or probe used [33,37]. Further development of DSP needs to improve processing capacity and reduce the current turn-around time of up to four days, which is usually lengthened by increased ROI size and complex profiling strategies [32,34]. Another platform recently developed by nanoString, the CosMx Spatial Molecular Imager, aims to overcome the issues with resolution and speed in DSP, enabling detection of both RNA and protein at a subcellular resolution [38].

2.3. Mass cytometry imaging technologies

Mass cytometry imaging (MCI) applies the principles of mass cytometry used for analyzing cells in suspensions to visualize FFPE and FF tissue samples using metal-conjugated antibodies (Fig. 1) [39,40]. Mass cytometry-based imaging technologies overcome many of the limitations in fluorescence-based methods, allowing the visualization of up to 40 markers [39,41,42]. Imaging Mass Cytometry (IMC) [42] and Multiplexed Ion Beam Imaging (MIBI)

[41] are the two primary methods, only differing in how they ionize the metal isotopes for detection by the time-of-flight (TOF) mass spectrometer.

IMC detects molecular targets using metal-conjugated antibodies which are ionized in an ablation chamber by a UV laser, then measured and indexed by TOF mass spectrometry [40,42,43]. The speed and size of the laser ablation spots determine the resolution of the final image acquired, where a rastering speed of 200 pixels per second using a 1 μ m laser spot size can image 1 mm² of tissue in under two hours [43].

Meanwhile, MIBI follows a similar principle but uses an alternative to a pulsed laser to vaporize the metal isotopes bound to the tissue [43]. Instead, a tunable oxygen primary ion beam is used to rasterize the tissue, ionizing metal isotopes while only ablating a thin layer of tissue [39,41,43]. This enables the tissue to be rescanned, unlike IMC [8]. Like IMC, MIBI is capable of imaging tissue sections of up to 1 mm², with the resolution of the final image reliant on the acquisition time [44]. However, in MIBI, the ion beam can be adjusted, allowing a higher resolution of as low as 260 nm to be scanned [39,44]. Detailed comparisons between IMC and MIBI have been previously reviewed [8,39].

MCI is advantageous over fluorescence-based imaging as it utilizes atomic mass in generating the tissue image, reducing endogenous autofluorescence and the need for amplification [42,45]. The subsequent low signal-to-noise ratio allows for high sensitivity with detection limits of approximately 50 copies of an epitope per pixel [46]. The use of heavy-metal isotopes ensures that each isotope has a unique atomic mass that can be easily identified and quantified, resolving issues related to spectral overlap common in fluorophore-based imaging technologies [46]. Currently, the largest panels validated for imaging diseased tissue using MCI consist of 30-40 markers [42,44,47-49]. However, MCI has the potential to expand and detect up to 100 markers depending on the discovery of new rare metal isotopes [39]. IMC can also be expanded to detect mRNA expression by conjugating RNAscope probes to heavy metal isotopes [28,40,50]. Currently, in situ detection of up to three mRNAs can be obtained simultaneously, allowing visualization of the relationships seen in and between mRNA and protein signaling networks [51].

Both IMC and MIBI rely on high-quality, purified antibodies for use with a TOF mass spectrometer to minimize non-specific signals from impurities, where most of these antibodies are only optimized for use in single-cell suspensions. Consequently, developing a high parameter panel is both expensive and time-consuming, requiring antibody validation and optimization [7,8,43,46]. In addition, the time-consuming nature of image acquisition limits the use of MCI for whole-slide imaging. Instead, MCI is usually reserved to analyze smaller ROI to ensure high spatial resolution while balancing the speed of image acquisition [43]. Manually selected ROI are vulnerable to visual and cognitive bias and may ignore spatial and cell-cell interactions that would otherwise be identified during whole-slide imaging [52]. Furthermore, the 1 μ m² resolution used in IMC is still unable to accurately resolve and image subcellular organelles, limiting the ability to assign cellular phenotypes based on marker expression [40]. However, the recent adaptation of a positively charged cesium primary ion beam to MIBI has enabled the imaging of subcellular structures, achieving approximately 30 nm in the lateral resolution and 5 nm in the axial resolution [53].

3. Application of tissue imaging in human disease

3.1. Cancer

The demands for better biomarkers and a deeper understanding of mechanisms underlying successful immunotherapy have played a pivotal role in spearheading the development of cutting-edge multiplex tissue imaging technologies [41,42]. These approaches have characterized tumor microenvironments (TME) with single-cell resolution and defined the local cellular response to immunotherapy [31,44,54,55]. In this regard, breast cancer tumor samples were explored in two original papers, which first described the utility of IMC and MIBI [41,42] in in-depth cell phenotyping of tissue, allowing the visualization of the cell-cell interactions, tissue architecture, and tumor heterogeneity.

The success of these studies helped establish the prognostic value of studying tumor heterogeneity and how characterizing TME can predict treatment and patient outcomes. One of the landmark studies [44] used MIBI with a 36-plex panel to identify TME in triple-negative breast cancer, a form of breast cancer with increased tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and a lack of therapeutic breast cancer targets (estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor, and HER2). This study found that the spatial organization of immune infiltrates and immunoregulatory proteins were differentially expressed across patients and that PD-L1 and IDO were hallmarks of tumor compartmentalization, which could be associated with increased overall survival. This seminal study was important in forming a framework for visualizing and analyzing high parameter data, linking the cellular composition of tumor microenvironments to clinical cohorts with improved survival. Similarly, a recent CODEX study developed a 56-plex panel to analyze clinical cutaneous T cell lymphoma samples [30]. Expansion to a 56marker panel with CODEX allows more extensive immunophenotyping by classifying cell types using multiple markers, especially important for cells with similar lineages, and visualization of cells with spatial context. An extensive panel is also important in enabling the detection of novel biomarkers and immunomodulatory proteins. This identifies the intra-tumor and patient heterogeneity present and allows a more accurate understanding of the cellular basis underlying the host responses to immunotherapy. Together, these studies establish a framework and validated panel for studying cell-cell interactions in TME and immunotherapy responsiveness in FFPE tumor samples [30,44].

Imaging technologies have also been employed clinically to characterize the changes in immune cells and checkpoints during immunotherapy [54,56]. Due to easier reagent and instrument availability, smaller 4- and 5-plex Opal panels have been used to perform immune profiling on melanoma patients treated with anti-PD1 monotherapy and combination therapy of anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 [56,57]. Responders to monotherapy and combined therapy had higher initial and final infiltrates of immune cells, consistent with previous studies describing the relationship between the TME and immunotherapy [30,56,58–60]. Additionally, while PD-1 and PD-L1 increased in responders, non-responders had significantly fewer infiltrates of activated T cells and regulatory FOXP3⁺ T cells in tumors [56]. This has direct translational relevance to clinical oncology, as it allows the prediction of nonresponders, which have low tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, and enables early selection of combination therapy to maximize treatment efficacy.

Alternatively, larger IMC panels have been used to assess the changes in immune cell infiltration and immunomodulatory proteins in tumors after immunotherapy. An 18-plex panel showed that breast cancer tumors, expressing the extracellular domain of HER2, responded well to treatment with trastuzumab and were spatially associated with increased CD8⁺ T cell infiltration [54]. Similarly, a 25-plex panel profiled melanoma tumors treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors, pembrolizumab, nivolumab, or a combination of ipilimumab and nivolumab [61]. The study observed that patients with increased survival had higher levels of CD8⁺ T cell infiltration. In addition, higher beta2-microglobulin expression in tumors was associated with a better response to immunotherapy and may be a potential biomarker indicating immunotherapy responsiveness. While these IMC studies only profile ROI, they highlight how broad marker panels and subsequent spatial analysis can capture biomarkers indicative of successful immunotherapy, with potential for future routine use in predicting patient immunotherapy responsiveness.

3.2. Autoimmune diseases

3.2.1. Type 1 Diabetes

Imaging beta-cells, the main source of insulin, in pancreatic islets has been of interest in studying disease progression and the immunopathogenesis of type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) [62]. Two IMC studies sought to characterize disease progression and immunopathogenesis of T1DM by using archival pancreas samples [47,49]. A 35-marker panel strived to elucidate the mechanisms behind beta-cell destruction and examined if proximity to immune cells and blood vessels correlated with increased destruction [49]. Surprisingly, they discovered that while cytotoxic and helper T cells are recruited to pancreatic islets before beta-cell destruction, the spatial analysis suggested that they were not directly involved as previously thought, exemplifying the importance of spatial information in understanding pathogenesis. In a separate study, a 33-marker panel quantified the structural and cellular changes in islets during T1DM progression [47]. They found that while cytotoxic and helper T cells were also found in proximity to beta-cell-containing islets, there was heterogeneity in the spatial distribution and proportions of immune cell infiltration within each sample and across patient samples. Together, both these studies help identify the changes in pancreatic tissue and islet cells for early detection of diabetes, uncovering the mechanisms behind pathogenesis.

More recently, another study has incorporated whole-slide imaging with multiplex tissue imaging, allowing analysis of the cellular heterogeneity of T1DM pancreas at an organ level [63]. Here, Opal fluorophores detected immune and endocrine cells for infiltration and spatial analysis of islets [63]. While this study does not utilize an extensive panel of markers, the incorporation of whole-slide imaging with QuPath [64], a machine learning-based image analysis platform, allows accurate and objective quantification of the structural and cellular changes in T1DM pancreas.

3.2.2. Multiple Sclerosis

While our knowledge of the pathogenesis and treatments for multiple sclerosis (MS) have advanced over the past decade, the immunopathology behind the initiation of disease and triggers of central nervous system (CNS) injury remains unknown [65]. The limited availability of high-quality samples of early and active disease has led to difficulties in characterizing this stage of disease [65]. Multiplex imaging technologies have enabled the study of immune and CNS cell interactions while simultaneously generating high parameter data from rare archival samples [66].

A 13-plex IMC panel of myeloid and glial activation markers mapped macrophage and astrocyte phenotypes in various lesional regions [67]. By comparing myeloid cell and astrocyte phenotypes in early and late MS lesions, the authors observed that in later stages of disease, spatial interactions between these cellular populations significantly increased alongside increased activated macrophages throughout perivascular spaces. This study uncovers the changes in the cellular spatial organization of proinflammatory phenotypes in the lesion rim and center throughout disease progression, highlighting the capability of IMC in collecting high-throughput data from limited tissue samples.

Another recent study [68] used a 15-plex IMC panel to characterize different lesional stages of MS brain tissue after treatment with natalizumab. This panel enabled the authors to pinpoint the anatomic localization of multiple T and B cell populations, identifying immune cells with demyelinating activity in both normalappearing white matter and peaking in the core of active lesion. The identification of cell-cell interactions with demyelinating macrophage phenotypes in white matter before obvious signs of demyelination, and near blood vessels and the border of activeinactive lesions is instrumental to improving our understanding of MS tissue injury and inflammation, an area still poorly understood.

Both these studies feature the analysis of high dimensional IMC data, highlighting the potential of multiplex tissue imaging in addressing the current knowledge gaps in the initiation and progression of MS, improving diagnosis and identification of therapeutic targets, especially with limited sample availability.

3.3. Infectious diseases

3.3.1. Tuberculosis

More recently, multiplex imaging technologies have been used to address the limited knowledge surrounding the cellular architecture of tuberculosis granulomas. It has been previously established that there is high lesion heterogeneity in mycobacterial granulomas, where lesion pathology reflects bacterial persistence, quality of the local immune response, and clinical outcomes [69,70]. A 37-plex MIBI panel consisting of immune cells, nonimmune structural cells, and functional immunoregulatory markers imaged granulomas to identify hallmarks of active tuberculosis [71]. They identified a unique spatial relationship between PD-L1 and IDO-1, where elevated co-expression of these markers was associated with an immunosuppressive phenotype with a high bacterial burden. Hence, the application of MCI to profile tuberculosis granulomas has revealed new immunoregulatory pathways and can help direct the future design of host-directed therapies to improve outcomes for tuberculosis patients.

3.3.2. COVID-19

Multiplex tissue imaging has also been applied to analyze tissue response in COVID-19. The collection of high-parameter data has helped the in-depth characterization of tissue pathology in the novel disease through the analysis of the changing tissue structures and immune infiltrates [72]. Multiple studies using IMC, DSP and Opal IHC have characterized the immune response and spatial landscape of COVID-19 organ pathology [73–79].

To examine the multi-organ alterations caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), a 27-marker IMC panel imaged the lungs, intestine, spleen, liver, and kidneys [75]. Analysis established that the lungs and intestine displayed strong immune responses, where increased infiltrate of CD11b⁺ macrophages and CD11c⁺ dendritic cells were observed. Intriguingly, elevated production of both the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, and pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF- α , was observed in the two organs. This study lays the foundation for mapping COVID-related organ damage throughout the body and identifies immune signatures that need to be addressed when developing therapeutics.

A later study [73] undertook a more extensive 36-plex IMC study to define and compare the immune landscape of COVID-19 lung pathology to other respiratory infections, using a panel containing structural, immune cell, and functional markers. In addition to reporting increased macrophages and dendritic cells as disease progressed, the study revealed an increase in interactions between macrophages and fibroblasts, contributing to alveolar wall thickening observed in COVID-19 pathology. To further validate the findings, the study compared the changes in cellular composition from the IMC data to gene set signatures obtained from DSP, where similar increases in fibroblast and macrophage cell populations from the progression of early to late COVID-19 were observed.

Here, this study outlines the immune landscape of COVID-19 relative to other respiratory diseases and highlights how a combination of imaging technologies can be used to validate trends observed.

Imaging technologies have also been used to elucidate the host determinants driving the increased severity of COVID-19 lung pathology. A 6-plex Opal panel profiled immune cells in COVID-19 lungs in comparison to healthy, uninfected lungs [79]. A significant increase in the frequency and density of CD163⁺ monocytes and macrophages were observed in the alveolar spaces of infected lungs, while there was little change in lymphocyte and neutrophil populations. Importantly, a similar spatial arrangement was also found to be present in individuals with severe influenza, implicating that increased monocyte recruitment at alveolar spaces is associated with alveolar damage and COVID-19 severity and represents a common feature of acute respiratory viral infection. With further analysis in larger cohort sizes, future clinical investigations may direct effective therapeutic development to reduce monocyte recruitment and thus reduce disease severity.

These studies all highlight the power of multiplex imaging in identifying the cellular mechanisms controlling the pathophysiology and immunopathology of human diseases, and in guiding the development of future therapeutics.

4. Summary & outlook

While the high dimensional data obtained from multiplex tissue imaging enables phenotyping and analysis of tissue with a single-cell resolution, this leads to an inevitable computational challenge. A robust and objective workflow for imaging data analvsis and visualization still needs to be established, especially if these methods are developed for clinical use [18,80,81]. Robust and standardized workflows from panel design and imaging to data acquisition are fundamental in ensuring these results are valid and are reproducible across different tissue samples and studies [7,22]. As summarized in Fig. 1, most laboratories have adopted a similar analytics pipeline consisting of single-cell segmentation, cell phenotyping, dimensionality reduction, spatial analysis, and data visualization [26,41,44,74,82]. However, both analysis and reporting of tissue imaging studies have yet to be standardized. The development of more user-friendly, open-source analysis software, such as QuPath [64], is required to support and streamline this process [13,83]. Finally, as many of these imaging studies form part of early-stage discoveries of biomarkers and therapeutic targets, it is unknown how well these findings translate clinically.

The power of the multiplex imaging technologies has only just been uncovered, expanding from the well-established use of studying TME in cancer to studying the pathogenesis of autoimmune and infectious diseases. Our knowledge of the mechanisms behind immunotherapy and local cellular environments in disease is evolving alongside the technological advances in multiplex imaging technologies, which are increasing their marker capacity, speed, and resolution. While multiplex imaging technologies are still limited in panel size compared to spatial transcriptomics, this is rapidly being addressed by the continuing development of MCI and DNAbarcoding methods to feasibly increase the number of molecular targets in panels [82]. Nevertheless, multiplex tissue imaging will certainly have clinical utility in the future, cementing the importance of spatial biology in our understanding of human diseases.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by US National Institutes of Health (U01AI166309).

References

- Stubbington MJT, Rozenblatt-Rosen O, Regev A, Teichmann SA. Single-cell transcriptomics to explore the immune system in health and disease. Science 2017;358(6359):58–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan6828</u>.
- [2] Gupta RK, Kuznicki J. Biological and medical importance of cellular heterogeneity deciphered by single-cell RNA sequencing. Cells 2020;9 (8):1751. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9081751</u>.
- [3] Aldridge S, Teichmann SA. Single cell transcriptomics comes of age. Nat Commun 2020;11(1):4307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18158-5</u>.
- [4] Snijder B, Pelkmans L. Origins of regulated cell-to-cell variability. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2011;12(2):119-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3044</u>.
- [5] Saviano A, Henderson NC, Baumert TF. Single-cell genomics and spatial transcriptomics: discovery of novel cell states and cellular interactions in liver physiology and disease biology. J Hepatol 2020;73(5):1219–30. <u>https://doi. org/10.1016/i.ihep.2020.06.004</u>.
- [6] Crosetto N, Bienko M, van Oudenaarden A. Spatially resolved transcriptomics and beyond. Nat Rev Genet 2015;16(1):57–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrg3832</u>.
- [7] Hickey JW, Neumann EK, Radtke AJ, Camarillo JM, Beuschel RT, et al. Spatial mapping of protein composition and tissue organization: a primer for multiplexed antibody-based imaging. Nat Methods 2021. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1038/s41592-021-01316-y.
- [8] Bodenmiller B. Multiplexed epitope-based tissue imaging for discovery and healthcare applications. Cell Syst 2016;2(4):225–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cels.2016.03.008</u>.
- [9] Gerdes MJ, Sevinsky CJ, Sood A, Adak S, Bello MO, et al. Highly multiplexed single-cell analysis of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded cancer tissue. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110(29):11982–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1300136110</u>.
- [10] Arreaza G, Qiu P, Pang L, Albright A, Hong L, et al. Pre-analytical considerations for successful next-generation sequencing (NGS): challenges and opportunities for formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded tumor tissue (FFPE) Samples. Int J Mol Sci 2016;17(9):1579. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms17091579</u>.
- [11] Robertson D, Savage K, Reis-Filho JS, Isacke CM. Multiple immunofluorescence labelling of formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue. BMC Cell Biol 2008;9(1):13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2121-9-13</u>.
- [12] Hernandez S, Rojas F, Laberiano C, Lazcano R, Wistuba I, et al. Multiplex immunofluorescence tyramide signal amplification for immune cell profiling of paraffin-embedded tumor tissues. Front Mol Biosci 2021;8. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmolb.2021.667067.</u>
- [13] Tan WCC, Nerurkar SN, Cai HY, Ng HHM, Wu D, et al. Overview of multiplex immunohistochemistry/immunofluorescence techniques in the era of cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Commun 2020;40(4):135–53. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cac2.12023</u>.
- [14] Willemsen M, Krebbers G, Bekkenk MW, Teunissen MBM, Luiten RM. Improvement of opal multiplex immunofluorescence workflow for human tissue sections. J Histochem Cytochem 2021;69(5):339–46. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1369/00221554211007793</u>.
- [15] Maiques O., Georgouli M., Sanz-Moreno V. Recent advances in tissue imaging for cancer research. F1000Res, 2019;8: F1000 Faculty Rev-1980. doi:10.12688/ f1000research.19037.1.
- [16] Wharton KA, Wood D, Manesse M, Maclean KH, Leiss F, et al. Tissue multiplex analyte detection in anatomic pathology – pathways to clinical implementation. Front Mol Biosci 2021;8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmolb.2021.672531</u>.
- [17] Tóth ZE, Mezey É. Simultaneous visualization of multiple antigens with tyramide signal amplification using antibodies from the same species. J Histochem Cytochem 2007;55(6):545–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1369/jhc.6a7134.2007</u>.
- [18] Millian DE, Saldarriaga OA, Wanninger T, Burks JK, Rafati YN, et al. Cuttingedge platforms for analysis of immune cells in the hepatic microenvironment-focus on tumor-associated macrophages in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancers 2022;14(8):1861. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cancers14081861</u>.
- [19] Hougaard DM, Larsson LI, Tornehave D. Microwaving for double indirect immunofluorescence with primary antibodies from the same species and for staining of mouse tissues with mouse monoclonal antibodies. Histochem Cell Biol 2000;113(1):0019–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s004180050002</u>.
- [20] Viratham Pulsawatdi A, Craig SG, Bingham V, McCombe K, Humphries MP, et al. A robust multiplex immunofluorescence and digital pathology workflow for the characterisation of the tumour immune microenvironment. Mol Oncol 2020;14(10):2384–402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1878-0261.12764</u>.
- [21] Stack EC, Wang C, Roman KA, Hoyt CC. Multiplexed immunohistochemistry, imaging, and quantitation: a review, with an assessment of Tyramide signal amplification, multispectral imaging and multiplex analysis. Methods 2014;70 (1):46–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2014.08.016</u>.

- [22] Hoyt CC. Multiplex immunofluorescence and multispectral imaging: forming the basis of a clinical test platform for immuno-oncology. Front Mol Biosci 2021;8:674747. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2021.674747</u>.
- [23] Sun Z, Nyberg R, Wu Y, Bernard B, Redmond WL. Developing an enhanced 7color multiplex IHC protocol to dissect immune infiltration in human cancers. PLoS ONE 2021;16(2):e0247238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0247238</u>.
- [24] Schueder F, Unterauer EM, Ganji M, Jungmann R. DNA-barcoded fluorescence microscopy for spatial omics. Proteomics 2020;20(23):1900368. <u>https://doi. org/10.1002/pmic.201900368</u>.
- [25] Goltsev Y, Samusik N, Kennedy-Darling J, Bhate S, Hale M, et al. Deep profiling of mouse splenic architecture with CODEX multiplexed imaging. Cell 2018;174(4):968–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.cell.2018.07.010</u>.
- [26] Black S, Phillips D, Hickey JW, Kennedy-Darling J, Venkataraaman VG, et al. CODEX multiplexed tissue imaging with DNA-conjugated antibodies. Nature Protoc 2021;16(8):3802-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-021-00556-8</u>.
- [27] DeRosa J. Setting a new standard for spatial omics: an integrated multiomics approach. Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology News 2022;42(S1):26–8. https://doi.org/10.1089/gen.42.S1.07.
- [28] Wang F, Flanagan J, Su N, Wang L-C, Bui S, et al. RNAscope: a novel in situ RNA analysis platform for formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissues. J Mol Diagn 2012;14(1):22–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2011.08.002</u>.
- [29] Kennedy-Darling J, Bhate SS, Hickey JW, Black S, Barlow GL, et al. Highly multiplexed tissue imaging using repeated oligonucleotide exchange reaction. Eur J Immunol 2021;51(5):1262-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.202048891</u>.
- [30] Phillips D, Schürch CM, Khodadoust MS, Kim YH, Nolan GP, et al. Highly multiplexed phenotyping of immunoregulatory proteins in the tumor microenvironment by CODEX tissue imaging. Front Immunol 2021;12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.687673.
- [31] Schürch CM, Bhate SS, Barlow GL, Phillips DJ, Noti L, et al. Coordinated cellular neighborhoods orchestrate antitumoral immunity at the colorectal cancer invasive front. Cell 2020;182(5):1341–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.cell.2020.07.005</u>.
- [32] Zollinger DR, Lingle SE, Sorg K, Beechem JM, Merritt CR. GeoMx[™] RNA Assay: High Multiplex, Digital, Spatial Analysis of RNA in FFPE Tissue. New York: Methods Mol Biol; 2020. p. 331–45.
- [33] Merritt CR, Ong GT, Church SE, Barker K, Danaher P, et al. Multiplex digital spatial profiling of proteins and RNA in fixed tissue. Nat Biotechnol 2020;38 (5):586–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-020-0472-9</u>.
- [34] Bergholtz H, Carter J, Cesano A, Cheang M, Church S, et al. Best practices for spatial profiling for breast cancer research with the geoMx[®] digital spatial profiler. Cancers 2021;13(17):4456. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.3390/cancers13174456.
- [35] Decalf J, Albert ML, Ziai J. New tools for pathology: a user's review of a highly multiplexed method for in situ analysis of protein and RNA expression in tissue. J Pathol 2019;247(5):650-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/path.5223</u>.
- [36] Van TM, Blank CU. A user's perspective on GeoMxTM digital spatial profiling. Immun Oncol Technol 2019;1:11–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. iotech.2019.05.001</u>.
- [37] Wang N, Wang R, Zhang X, Li X, Liang Y, et al. Spatially-resolved proteomics and transcriptomics: an emerging digital spatial profiling approach for tumor microenvironment. Vis Cancer Med 2021;2:1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/vcm/ 2020002</u>.
- [38] He S, Bhatt R, Birditt B, Brown C, Brown E, et al. High-plex multiomic analysis in FFPE tissue at single-cellular and subcellular resolution by spatial molecular imaging. bioRxiv, Preprint ;2021:2021.11.03.467020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/</u> 2021.11.03.467020.
- [39] Baharlou H, Canete NP, Cunningham AL, Harman AN, Patrick E. Mass cytometry imaging for the study of human diseases—applications and data analysis strategies. Front Immunol 2019;10. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02657.
- [40] Kakade VR, Weiss M, Cantley LG. Using imaging mass cytometry to define cell identities and interactions in human tissues. Front Physiol 2021;12:. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2021.817181</u>817181.
- [41] Angelo M, Bendall SC, Finck R, Hale MB, Hitzman C, et al. Multiplexed ion beam imaging of human breast tumors. Nat Med 2014;20(4):436–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3488</u>.
- [42] Giesen C, Wang HAO, Schapiro D, Zivanovic N, Jacobs A, et al. Highly multiplexed imaging of tumor tissues with subcellular resolution by mass cytometry. Nat Methods 2014;11(4):417-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>nmeth.2869</u>.
- [43] Chang Q. Ornatsky OI, Siddiqui I, Loboda A, Baranov VI, et al. Imaging mass cytometry. Cytometry Part A 2017;91(2):160–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.</u> a.23053.
- [44] Keren L, Bosse M, Marquez D, Angoshtari R, Jain S, et al. A structured tumorimmune microenvironment in triple negative breast cancer revealed by multiplexed ion beam imaging. Cell 2018;174(6):1373–87. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/i.cell.2018.08.039</u>.
- [45] Naderi-Azad S, Croitoru D, Khalili S, Eder L, Piguet V. Research techniques made simple: experimental methodology for imaging mass cytometry. J Investig Dermatol 2021;141(3):467–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> ijd.2020.11.022.
- [46] Hartmann FJ, Bendall SC. Immune monitoring using mass cytometry and related high-dimensional imaging approaches. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2020;16 (2):87–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-019-0338-z</u>.

H.Y. Chen, U. Palendira and C.G. Feng

- [47] Wang YJ, Traum D, Schug J, Gao L, Liu C, et al. Multiplexed in situ imaging mass cytometry analysis of the human endocrine pancreas and immune system in type 1 diabetes. Cell Metab 2019;29(3):769–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cmet.2019.01.003</u>.
- [48] Ji AL, Rubin AJ, Thrane K, Jiang S, Reynolds DL, et al. Multimodal analysis of composition and spatial architecture in human squamous cell carcinoma. Cell 2020;182(2):497–514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.039</u>.
- [49] Damond N, Engler S, Zanotelli VRT, Schapiro D, Wasserfall CH, et al. A map of human type 1 diabetes progression by imaging mass cytometry. Cell Metab 2019;29(3):755–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2018.11.014</u>.
- [50] Mavropoulos A, Allo B, He M, Park E, Majonis D, et al. Simultaneous detection of protein and mRNA in jurkat and KG-1a cells by mass cytometry. Cytometry Part A 2017;91(12):1200–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.23281</u>.
- [51] Schulz D, Zanotelli VRT, Fischer JR, Schapiro D, Engler S, et al. Simultaneous multiplexed imaging of mRNA and proteins with subcellular resolution in breast cancer tissue samples by mass cytometry. Cell Syst 2018;6(1):25–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cels.2017.12.001.
- [52] Aeffner F, Zarella MD, Buchbinder N, Bui MM, Goodman MR, et al. Introduction to digital image analysis in whole-slide imaging: a white paper from the digital pathology association. J Pathol Inform 2019;10:9. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.4103/ipi.ipi 82 18</u>.
- [53] Rovira-Clavé X, Jiang S, Bai Y, Zhu B, Barlow G, et al. Subcellular localization of biomolecules and drug distribution by high-definition ion beam imaging. Nat Commun 2021;12(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-24822-1</u>.
- [54] Carvajal-Hausdorf DE, Patsenker J, Stanton KP, Villarroel-Espindola F, Esch A, et al. Multiplexed (18-Plex) measurement of signaling targets and cytotoxic T cells in trastuzumab-treated patients using imaging mass cytometry. Clin Cancer Res 2019;25(10):3054–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-18-2599</u>.
- [55] Le Rochais M, Hemon P, Pers J-O, Uguen A. Application of high-throughput imaging mass cytometry hyperion in cancer research. Front Immunol 2022;13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.859414.
- [56] Gide TN, Quek C, Menzies AM, Tasker AT, Shang P, et al. Distinct immune cell populations define response to anti-PD-1 monotherapy and anti-PD-1/anti-CTLA-4 combined therapy. Cancer Cell 2019;35(2):238–55. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/i.ccell.2019.01.003</u>.
- [57] Edwards J, Wilmott JS, Madore J, Gide TN, Quek C, et al. CD103+ tumorresident CD8+ T cells are associated with improved survival in immunotherapy-naïve melanoma patients and expand significantly during anti-PD-1 treatment. Clin Cancer Res 2018;24(13):3036-45. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-17-2257</u>.
- [58] Ptacek J, Locke D, Finck R, Cvijic M-E, Li Z, et al. Multiplexed ion beam imaging (MIBI) for characterization of the tumor microenvironment across tumor types. Lab Invest 2020;100(8):1111–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41374-020-0417-4</u>.
- [59] Madore J, Vilain RE, Menzies AM, Kakavand H, Wilmott JS, et al. PD-L1 expression in melanoma shows marked heterogeneity within and between patients: implications for anti-PD-1/PD-L1 clinical trials. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 2015;28(3):245–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12340</u>.
- [60] Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107 (9):4275–80. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0915174107.
- [61] Martinez-Morilla S, Villarroel-Espindola F, Wong PF, Toki MI, Aung TN, et al. Biomarker discovery in patients with immunotherapy-treated melanoma with imaging mass cytometry. Clin Cancer Res 2021;27(7):1987–96. <u>https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-20-3340</u>.
- [62] Christoffersson G, von Herrath MG. A deeper look into type 1 diabetes Imaging immune responses during onset of disease. Front Immunol 2016;7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00313.
- [63] Apaolaza PS, Petropoulou P-I, Rodriguez-Calvo T. Whole-slide image analysis of human pancreas samples to elucidate the immunopathogenesis of type 1 diabetes using the QuPath software. Front Mol Biosci 2021;8. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmolb.2021.689799</u>.
- [64] Bankhead P, Loughrey MB, Fernández JA, Dombrowski Y, McArt DG, et al. QuPath: Open source software for digital pathology image analysis. Science 2017;7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-17204-5</u>.

- [65] Vanderdonckt P., Aloisi F., Comi G., De Bruyn A., Hartung H-P., et al. Tissue donations for multiple sclerosis research: current state and suggestions for improvement. Brain Commun, 2022;4 (2). doi:10.1093/braincomms/ fcac094.
- [66] Lo CH, Skarica M, Mansoor M, Bhandarkar S, Toro S, et al. Astrocyte heterogeneity in multiple sclerosis: current understanding and technical challenges. Front Cell Neurosci 2021;15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/ fncel.2021.726479</u>.
- [67] Park C, Ponath G, Levine-Ritterman M, Bull E, Swanson EC, et al. The landscape of myeloid and astrocyte phenotypes in acute multiple sclerosis lesions. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2019;7(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-019-0779-2</u>.
- [68] Ramaglia V, Sheikh-Mohamed S, Legg K, Park C, Rojas OL, et al. Multiplexed imaging of immune cells in staged multiple sclerosis lesions by mass cytometry. eLife 2019;8. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.48051</u>.
- [69] Cadena AM, Fortune SM, Flynn JL. Heterogeneity in tuberculosis. Nat Rev Immunol 2017;17(11):691–702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.69</u>.
- [70] Lenaerts A, Barry CE, Dartois V. Heterogeneity in tuberculosis pathology, microenvironments and therapeutic responses. Immunol Rev 2015;264 (1):288–307. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmr.12252.
- [71] McCaffrey EF, Donato M, Keren L, Chen Z, Delmastro A, et al. The immunoregulatory landscape of human tuberculosis granulomas. Nat Immunol 2022;23(2):318–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-021-01121-x</u>.
- [72] Tan AS, Nerurkar SN, Tan WCC, Goh D, Lai CPT, et al. The virological, immunological, and imaging approaches for COVID-19 diagnosis and research. SLAS Technol 2020;25(6):522–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2472630320</u> 950248.
- [73] Rendeiro AF, Ravichandran H, Bram Y, Chandar V, Kim J, et al. The spatial landscape of lung pathology during COVID-19 progression. Nature 2021;593 (7860):564–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03475-6</u>.
- [74] Schwabenland M, Salié H, Tanevski J, Killmer S, Lago MS, et al. Deep spatial profiling of human COVID-19 brains reveals neuroinflammation with distinct microanatomical microglia-T-cell interactions. Immunity 2021;54 (7):1594–610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2021.06.002</u>.
- [75] Wang C, Xu J, Wang S, Pan S, Zhang J, et al. Imaging mass cytometric analysis of postmortem tissues reveals dysregulated immune cell and cytokine responses in multiple organs of COVID-19 patients. Front Microbiol 2020;11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.600989</u>.
- [76] Delorey TM, Ziegler CGK, Heimberg G, Normand R, Yang Y, et al. COVID-19 tissue atlases reveal SARS-CoV-2 pathology and cellular targets. Nature 2021;595(7865):107–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03570-8</u>.
- [77] Berezowska S, Lefort K, Ioannidou K, Ndiaye D-R, Maison D, et al. Postmortem cardiopulmonary pathology in patients with COVID-19 infection: singlecenter report of 12 autopsies from lausanne, Switzerland. Diagnostics 2021;11 (8):1357. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics11081357</u>.
- [78] Dorward DA, Russell CD, Um IH, Elshani M, Armstrong SD, et al. Tissue-specific immunopathology in fatal COVID-19. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2021;203 (2):192-201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.202008-3265oc</u>.
- [79] Szabo PA, Dogra P, Gray JI, Wells SB, Connors TJ, et al. Longitudinal profiling of respiratory and systemic immune responses reveals myeloid cell-driven lung inflammation in severe COVID-19. Immunity 2021;54(4):797–814. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.immuni.2021.03.005</u>.
- [80] Taube JM, Roman K, Engle EL, Wang C, Ballesteros-Merino C, et al. Multiinstitutional TSA-amplified multiplexed immunofluorescence reproducibility evaluation (MITRE) study. J Immunother Cancer 2021;9(7):e002197. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1136/jitc-2020-002197</u>.
- [81] Schapiro D, Sokolov A, Yapp C, Chen Y-A, Muhlich JL, et al. MCMICRO: a scalable, modular image-processing pipeline for multiplexed tissue imaging. Nat Methods 2022;19(3):311-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-021-01308-</u> V.
- [82] Lewis SM, Asselin-Labat M-L, Nguyen Q, Berthelet J, Tan X, et al. Spatial omics and multiplexed imaging to explore cancer biology. Nat Methods 2021;18 (9):997–1012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-021-01203-6</u>.
- [83] Marée R. Open practices and resources for collaborative digital pathology. Front Med 2019;6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2019.00255</u>.